THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

Appeal From Laurens County Court of Common Pleas

Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001064

Chris Katina McCord, Christopher McCord,
Janice Sherfield, and Jerry Sherfield ***** Appellants

v.

Laurens County Health Care System and
Greenville Health System ***** Respondents

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Joseph G. Wright, III
jwright@mcgowanhood.com
Jay F. Wright
jaywright@mcgowanhood.com
McGowan, Hood & Felder, LLC
P.O. Box 1778
Anderson, SC 29678
(864)-225-6228
Attorneys for Appellants

RECEIVED
SEP 14 2017
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1) The trial judge failed to find that the contracts between Plaintiffs and Laurens County Health Care System ("Laurens County Hospital or Hospital") were ambiguous.
- 2) The trial judge failed to find that a reasonable interpretation of "services to be rendered to the patient" is for Laurens County Hospital to require privileged physicians, including Byron A. Brown, MD ("Dr. Brown"), to comply with Hospital Bylaws and the Subsidy Contract.
- 3) The trial judge failed to find that Laurens County Hospital breached the contract with Plaintiffs by failing to require Dr. Brown to comply with Hospital Bylaws and the Subsidy Contract.
- 4) The trial judge failed to find that a special relationship arose between Laurens County Hospital and Plaintiffs which created a duty to exercise due care on the part of the hospital.
- 5) The trial judge failed to find that Laurens County Hospital breached the duty to exercise due care in monitoring, supervising or requiring Dr. Brown to comply with Hospital Bylaws and the Subsidy Contract.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs filed a complaint on March 26, 2014, alleging a cause of action for breach of contract and a cause of action for breach of the duty to exercise due care in the special relationship between Laurens County Hospital and patients who underwent surgery at Laurens County Hospital. The Amended Complaint was filed June 16, 2014, and the Second Amended Complaint was filed January 11, 2017. Defendants answered the complaint, admitted the existence of the contracts between Laurens County Hospital and patients who underwent surgery at Laurens County Hospital; but, denied that the contracts were breached and denied that a special relationship existed between Laurens County Hospital and patients who underwent surgery at Laurens County Hospital.

On February 28, 2017, the court granted Defendants' motion for summary judgment. On April 4, 2017, the court denied Plaintiffs' motion to alter or amend the judgement. On April 27, 2017, Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal.

ARGUMENTS

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a motion for summary judgment, the evidence and inferences which can be drawn therefrom are to be viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Summary Judgment is a drastic remedy, it should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed facts. *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E. 2d 69 (1999).

Summary judgment is improper where the motion presents a question as to the construction of a written contract, and the contract is ambiguous because the intent of the parties cannot be gathered from the four corners of the contract. Where a contract is unclear, or is ambiguous, and capable of more than one construction, the parties' intentions are matters of fact to be submitted to the jury. If a contract is ambiguous, parole evidence is admissible to ascertain the true meaning and intent of the parties. *H.K. New Plan Exchange Property Owner 1, LLC v. Cohen*, 375 S.C. 18, 649 S.E.2d 181, 184 (Ct. App. 2007), citing *Bishop v. Benson*, 297 S.C. 14, 374 S.E.2d 517, 518-519 (Ct. App. 1988); *Wheeler v. Globe Rutgers Fire Ins. Co. of City of N.Y.*, 125 S.C. 320, 118 S.E. 609, 610 (1923); *Penton v. J.F. Cleckly Co.*, 326 S.C. 275, 486 S.E.2d 742, 745 (1997).

B. SALIENT FACTS

This case is an action against Laurens County Health Care System ("Laurens County Hospital") and Greenville Healthcare System ("GHS") for breach of contract and an action for breach of the duty to exercise due care in the special relationship between Laurens County Hospital and patients who underwent surgery at Laurens County Hospital. The patients are Chris Katina McCord ("Mrs. McCord") and Janice Sherfield ("Mrs. Sherfield") (sometimes collectively referred to as "Patients") and their spouses who are Christopher McCord ("Mr. McCord") and Jerry Sherfield ("Mr. Sherfield"), respectively. The Patients allege in the First Cause of Action that they entered into several contracts with Laurens County Hospital and Laurens County Hospital breached the contracts by failing to fully perform the services it provided. (R. pp. 150-152 - paragraphs 70, 71, 72, and 73 of the Second Amended Complaint). Also, the Patients allege in the Second Cause of Action that there was a special relationship between Laurens County Hospital and its patients undergoing surgery and that Laurens County Hospital was negligent in exercising due care which resulted in damages to the Patients. (R. pp. 153-155 - paragraphs 80, 81, 82, and 83 of Second Amended Complaint).

The Laurens County Hospital Medical Staff Bylaws require the medical staff "to initiate and maintain rules and regulations for the proper functioning of the staff". (R. p. 206 - Article II PURPOSES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 2.1.6). One of the rules and regulations is a "requirement for initial and continuing appointment to the Medical Staff LIPs (licensed individual practitioners)

shall maintain valid professional liability insurance coverage in the amounts deemed necessary by the Board from time to time” (R. p. 208 - Article III STAFF APPOINTMENT 3.2.1(e))

Laurens County Hospital also entered into a Subsidy Contract with Dr. Brown which mandated compliance with “all provisions of the medical staff bylaws of the Hospital” and the “policy shall cover professional liability in a minimum amount of \$1,000,000 per claim/\$3,000,000 aggregate or JUA/PCF coverage.” (R. p. 213 - Article II: PHYSICIAN OBLIGATION A.1; R. p. 216 - ARTICLE VI: PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE).

The sole expert witness for defendants, James W. Weiss, MHA, MBA, FACHE, testified that in 2008 and 2009 it was common practice for the governing body to require physicians practicing in hospitals in the United States to carry and maintain medical malpractice insurance. It was also “a requirement standard in the industry that the governing body require the medical staff to mandate that the that the practitioners have medical malpractice (insurance)”. (R. pp. 311-312 - Weiss deposition, 58:4-8; 62:23 to 63:2). The expert witness for plaintiffs, John C. Hyde, II, PhD, testified that reports from federal agencies, such as the Institute of Medicine (R. p. 222) document in 1999 that between 44,000 and 98,000 people die each year from preventable medical errors. The Institute of Medicine labeled this level of deaths “the nation’s epidemic of medical errors.” This research was later confirmed in 2010 by the report from the Office of the Inspector General Department of Health and Human Services entitled *Adverse Events in Hospitals: National Incidence Among Medicare Beneficiaries* (R. pp.

223-260). Thus, Dr. Hyde confirmed and supported the testimony of the expert witness for the defendants that the common practice and prevailing standard of hospitals in the United States has been to require physicians to carry and maintain professional liability insurance. (R. p. 199 - Hyde deposition, 195:23 to 198:8.)

Mrs. McCord underwent three surgeries at Laurens County Hospital on December 18, 2008, February 19, 2009, and April 17, 2009. Mrs. Sherfield underwent surgery at Laurens County Hospital on May 29, 2009.

The surgeries on Mrs. McCord and Mrs. Sherfield were performed by Dr. Brown who was an obstetrician/gynecologist granted privileges to perform the surgeries by Laurens County Hospital. It has been judicially determined that Dr. Brown committed medical malpractice during each surgery and the following are verdicts and judgments rendered against Dr. Brown:

*	Chris Katina McCord	\$1,740,392.75;
*	Christopher McCord (loss of consortium)	\$ 58,789.40;
*	Janice Sherfield	\$1,468,580.00;
*	Jerry Sherfield (loss of consortium)	\$ 50,000.00.

(R. pp. 181-190)

Dr. Brown also committed medical malpractice on other patients after July 9, 2009.¹

At the time of each McCord and Sherfield surgery, Dr. Brown had insurance under a claims made insurance policy issued by Joint Underwriting

¹ A jury verdict was returned for \$2,960,000 in favor of Pamela and Carroll Neighbors against Dr. Brown on July 25, 2014 which was reduced because of noneconomic damages caps and prejudgment interest added for a net judgment of \$1,125,464.35, which was later settled for an undisclosed amount; a jury verdict was returned for \$2,000,000 in favor of Lisa and Jeffrey Dennie against Dr. Brown on August 29, 2014 which was reduced because of noneconomic damages caps and prejudgment interest added for a net judgment of \$1,609,445.44, which was later settled for an undisclosed amount. The cases of Dixie Mitchell and Betty and Donald Ward against Dr. Brown were settled for undisclosed amounts.

Association ("JUA"). (R. pp. 269-283). The coverage under a claims made policy terminates when the insurance policy is not renewed unless the expiring policy provides Extended Reporting Period Endorsement or the replacement policy includes Prior Acts Coverage. Although the JUA policy covering Dr. Brown ended on July 9, 2009, an Extended Reporting Period Endorsement was available for Dr. Brown to purchase at any time prior to January 15, 2010. (R. p. 284). The replacement policy was also a claims made policy issued by MAG Mutual Insurance Company ("MAG Mutual"). The MAG Mutual policy was issued effective July 9, 2009 but did not include Prior Acts Coverage. Prior Acts Coverage was made available; but, was declined by Dr. Brown. (R. p. 287 - paragraph 4 of Affidavit).

During the time period from July 9, 2009 to January 15, 2010, no action was taken by Laurens County Hospital to require Dr. Brown to comply with the Medical Staff Bylaws to maintain his professional liability insurance coverage for Mrs. McCord and Mrs. Sherfield by purchasing Extended Reporting Period Endorsement from JUA. Nor did Laurens County Hospital require Dr. Brown to continue coverage by purchasing Prior Acts Coverage from MAG Mutual. For the reasons detailed later, Plaintiffs contend that Laurens County Hospital failed to comply with and enforce the Medical Staff Bylaws and failed to enforce the contractual obligations of Dr. Brown under the Subsidy Contract to maintain valid professional liability insurance for patients who had undergone surgery at Laurens County Hospital. Also, Laurens County Hospital breached the duty of

due care in the patient/hospital special relationship by failing to exercise due care as will be fully shown in Section E – Breach of Duty in a Special Relationship.

Defendants admit to entering into a separate contract with the Patients for each of the four surgeries performed by Dr. Brown at Laurens County Hospital. (R. pp. 172-173 - Defendant's Supplemental Response to Request for Admission #5). The written documents state "services to be rendered" by Laurens County Hospital; however, the "services to be rendered" are not listed or identified. (R. pp. 191-194). The parties dispute what "services" are to be rendered by Laurens County Hospital. Patients submit that the "services to be rendered" include, but are not limited to, Laurens County Hospital complying with state law and DHEC regulations relating to the operation of the hospital, complying with its own Medical Staff Bylaws promulgated in accordance with state law and DHEC regulations, and complying with contracts that Laurens County Hospital entered into with physicians, specifically, Dr. Brown, that affect the health, safety, and legal rights of the Patients.

As a result of Laurens County Hospital breaching the contracts and negligently failing to exercise due care, there was no insurance coverage to pay the judgments rendered against Dr. Brown. Dr. Brown is judgment proof and has permanently left the United States to reside in New Zealand, (R. pp. 307-308 - MAG Mutual memo; R. pp. 151-155 - Second Amended Complaint, paragraphs 73, 74, 75, 76, 81, 82, and 83).

After the breach of contract with the Patients, Laurens County Hospital entered into an agreement with Greenville Healthcare System ("GHS"). The

agreement between Laurens County Hospital and GHS was effective July 1, 2013 whereby GHS agreed to assume, perform, and discharge any and all obligations of Laurens County Hospital related to the hospital which existed as of July 1, 2013. The liabilities and obligations of Laurens County Hospital to Plaintiffs for breach of contract and negligence related to the operations of the hospital that existed as of July 1, 2013, and were thus assumed by GHS. (R. pp. 179-180 - portion of Greenville Health System and Laurens County Health Care System agreement effective July 1, 2013, **Section 2.3 Assumption of Liabilities**) (R. p. 135 - Second Amended Complaint, paragraph 4).

C. PREVAILING PRACTICE

The Institute of Medicine, which acts under the responsibility of the National Academy of Sciences that was established by Congress in 1863 as an advisor to identify issues of medical care in the United States, published a report in 1999 entitled "To Err is Human". This was a sentinel report on health care in U.S. hospitals that noted "at least 44,000 people, and perhaps as many as 98,000 people, die in hospitals each year as a result of medical errors that could have been prevented. This death total exceeds the deaths from motor-vehicle wrecks and breast cancer. (R. p. 222). The total does not include patients who survived, but who are harmed by preventable errors and suffer substantial medical bills together with physical and psychological discomfort. (R. p. 199 - Hyde deposition, 195:23 to 196:8). The Institute of Medicine termed the situation in our nation's hospitals as an "epidemic of medical errors".

In 2010, the Office of Inspector General of the United States Department of Health and Human Services published a report entitled "*Adverse Events in Hospitals: National Incidences Among Medicare Beneficiaries*". The report noted as follows:

- * an estimated 13.5 percent of hospitalized Medicare beneficiaries experienced adverse events during their hospital stay;²
- * an estimated 15,000 Medicare patients die each month from adverse events that contribute to their death; and
- * 44 percent of adverse and temporary harm events were clearly or likely preventable.

(R. pp. 223-225).

The expert witness for the plaintiffs, who is a professor at the University of Mississippi Medical Center in the Department of Health Services and Family Medicine and has considerable experience teaching and working for private institutions in hospital management, issued the following opinions in his deposition that:

- * there is and has been an epidemic of medical negligence causing serious injuries and deaths to patients in hospitals in the United States;
- * because of this epidemic of medical negligence, it is both the common practice and a prevailing requirement for hospitals to require its physicians to carry and maintain professional liability insurance;
- * the purpose of the hospitals requiring surgeons that operate in the hospitals to carry and maintain professional liability insurance is so patients injured due to the negligent conduct of surgeons have a means to recover damages for injuries wrongly inflicted in the hospital; and
- * the professional liability insurance is for the benefit of the injured patient in addition to the benefit of the hospitals.

(R. pp. 199-200 - Hyde deposition, 197:16 to 198:18).

² Adverse event is defined as harm to a patient as a result of medical care.

As earlier noted, the expert witness for the Defendants, James Weiss, also acknowledged it was common practice for the governing body of the hospital to require physicians practicing in hospitals in the United States to carry and maintain medical malpractice insurance. (R. pp. 311-312 – Weiss deposition 58:4-8; 62:23 to 63:2).

The expert witness testimony clearly established that the prevailing practice of hospitals in the United States in 2008 and 2009 was for the medical staff of the hospital to require physicians privileged to practice in hospitals to have and maintain valid professional liability insurance coverage.

Consequently, Plaintiffs submit that a reasonable interpretation of the term “services to be rendered” in the contract between Laurens County Hospital and Patients is for Laurens County Hospital to require Dr. Brown to comply with the Medical Staff Bylaws to maintain valid professional liability insurance coverage for Mrs. McCord and Mrs. Sherfield.

D. BREACH OF CONTRACT

There is a dispute regarding the intent of the parties. Plaintiffs submit that the contract is reasonably susceptible to interpretation that included in the “services to be rendered” for Laurens County Hospital to require physicians who are privileged to practice in the hospital to comply with the medical staff bylaws and terms of contracts which affect the health, safety, and legal rights of patients. Defendants, on the other hand, contend that the intent of the parties is to limit the hospital’s “services to be rendered” to only those services separately billed, i.e., room charges, medications, and meals.

The contracts between Patients and Laurens County Hospital are set forth, in part, by the document entitled "Conditions of Admission" which was executed prior to each of the surgeries performed on Mrs. McCord and prior to the surgery performed on Mrs. Sheffield. (R. pp. 191-194)³. The operative language is as follows:

The undersigned (patient) agrees That in consideration of the **services to be rendered to that patient**, he hereby individually obligates himself to pay the account of the hospital, in accordance with the regular rates and terms of the hospital.
(emphasis supplied).

Laurens County Hospital billed Mrs. McCord \$56,962 and billed Mrs. Sheffield \$51,269 for services rendered and was paid an agreed upon price for these services. (R. pp. 175-178; R. pp. 163-165 - paragraphs 28 and 34 of Answer to Second Amended Complaint).

The trial court in its order, held, in part, that the terms of the contract were unambiguous:

First, taking the terms in their plain, ordinary and popular sense, the purpose of the sentence is unambiguous. It simply obligates patients to pay the bills they receive for the services rendered them by the Hospital. "Services to be rendered," in the context of that paragraph, refers to those services that the Hospital actually provides and bills for, such as room charges, medications, and meals, not ensuring that an independent physician has medical malpractice insurance.

Plaintiffs contend that the "services to be rendered" include: compliance with state and federal laws and regulations; compliance with the Bylaws, and; compliance with the contracts between the Hospital and privileged physicians. However, those things aren't actually services rendered by the Hospital. At most, they go toward

³ The Conditions of Admission for the McCord December 18, 2006 surgery cannot be located; however, Sandra Thompson, the Manager of Quality Resources which includes Risk Management, testified that the document was probably executed, but can't be located. (R. p. 197 - Thompson deposition, 49:17-25).

the standard of care for how services should be rendered by the Hospital.

(R. pp. 11-12)

The Order sets forth the intent of Laurens County Hospital; however, Plaintiffs contend their intent is different. Plaintiffs submit that their intent is based upon a recognition of the operational environment of a hospital. A hospital is not a Motel 6 which has published rates for rooms and items purchased from the room bar. The hospital is required by state and federal law to establish an environment that has as its primary purpose the health and safety of its patients. There are vital services performed by the hospital for which the hospital does not bill separately. South Carolina law requires each hospital to have a "single organized medical staff that has overall responsibility for the quality of medical care provided to patients". (§44-7-260(D) S.C. Code; S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-16, § 301). Further, the medical staff shall "with the approval of the hospital governing body, adopt bylaws, rules and regulation to govern its operation as an organized medical staff." (S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-16, § 301).

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