THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

SEP 18 2017
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001064

Chris Katina McCord, Christopher McCord, Janice
Sherfield, and Jerry Sherfield,..... Appellants

v.

Laurens County Health Care System and Greenville
Health System..... Respondents

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Kenneth N. Shaw (S.C. Bar No. 77859)
H. Sam Mabry, III (S.C. Bar No. 3490)
J. Ben Alexander (S.C. Bar No. 15323)
HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, P.A.
Post Office Box 2048
Greenville, South Carolina 29602
Telephone: (864) 240-3200
Facsimile: (864) 240-3300

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

B. A "Special Relationship" Did Not Create a Duty in Tort

Plaintiffs also contend the "special relationship" between the parties created a duty aside and apart from any duty that may have been created by the Contract; however, it is unclear what separate duty Plaintiffs are referring to. They appear to be arguing that the special relationship created the same duty they also argued was a contractual duty – a duty on the part of Laurens to comply with all laws and regulations and to ensure that Dr. Brown complied with insurance requirements in the Bylaws and the Subsidy Contract. The law does not allow Plaintiffs to argue a breach of the same

duty under both a contract and tort theory. See Tommy L. Griffin Plumbing & Heating Co. v. Jordan, Jones, & Goulding, Inc., 320 S.C. 49, 54-55, 463 S.E.2d 85, 88 (1995).

Regardless, the “special relationship,” to the extent there even was one, did not create a duty on the part of Laurens to ensure that Dr. Brown had medical malpractice insurance coverage for Plaintiffs’ claims. Plaintiffs continually argue that Laurens had an obligation to comply with all state and federal laws and regulations, but Plaintiffs have been unable to point to a single law or regulation which required Laurens to ensure that Dr Brown maintained medical malpractice insurance. In fact, under South Carolina law, doctors are free to forego medical malpractice insurance coverage if they so choose. And, as fully argued above, the insurance requirements in the Bylaws and Subsidy Contract did not create a duty owed to Plaintiffs. Again, Plaintiffs were at most incidental beneficiaries of those requirements, which would not give them standing to sue to enforce those requirements, and would certainly not give them grounds to sue Laurens.

In addition, Plaintiffs rely on several cases in support of their “special relationship” argument that are distinguishable from the instant case. In South Carolina State Ports Authority v. Booz-Allen & Hamilton, Inc., 289 S.C. 373, 346 S.E.2d 324 (1986), the Court held that a duty of care ran from a consultant to the commercial competitor the consultant was hired to critique when the consultant undertook to objectively analyze and compare the attributes of the commercial competitors for the purpose of giving one a market advantage over the other. 289 S.C. at 376-77. In Tommy L. Griffin Plumbing & Heating Co., the Court held the economic loss rule and lack of privity did not prevent a contractor from maintaining a tort action against a design engineer. 320 S.C. 49. In both cases, the Court held the defendants owed a duty to the plaintiffs to perform their contractual duties owed to a third party with due care. That is not what Plaintiffs are arguing should be done in this case. Rather, Plaintiffs are seeking to have Defendants held liable for Dr. Brown’s failure to exercise due care in

performing his contractual duty to maintain insurance.

Finally, it would be contrary to public policy and the intentions of the Legislature in South Carolina to hold that Laurens owes a duty to its patients to ensure that independent physicians maintain medical malpractice insurance. As previously mentioned, there is no law in South Carolina that requires doctors to maintain medical malpractice insurance. In addition, Laurens and GHS are both governmental entities subject to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-10, et seq. (1976, as amended), and it and its agents and employees are, therefore, entitled to all rights, privileges, defenses, limitations, and immunities afforded by the Act and afforded by the doctrine of sovereign immunity, as is retained by the Act. See Murphy v. Richland Mem. Hosp., 317 S.C. 560, 455 S.E.2d 688 (1995) (citing Benton v Roger C Peace, 313 S.C. 520, 443 S.E.2d 537 (1994)). Pursuant to the Act, a governmental entity cannot be held liable for the acts or omissions of an independent contractor. S.C. Code § 15-78-60(20); see also Smith v. Reg'l Med. Ctr., 394 S.C. 110, 713 S.E.2d 656 (Ct. App. 2011) (holding governmental hospital could not be held liable for the negligent acts of an independent contractor physician). Therefore, it is the public policy of this State and the intent of the Legislature that Laurens cannot be held liable for Dr. Brown's failure to have insurance coverage for Plaintiffs' claims. Further, the Act retains immunity for governmental entities for failing to enforce written policies, S.C. Code § 15-78-60(4); therefore, even if it could be said that Laurens failed to enforce its Bylaws, it would have immunity for failing to do so.

Plaintiffs were allegedly injured both physically and financially by Dr. Brown's acts and omissions. To the extent they seek to recover for those injuries, they must look to Dr. Brown, and Dr. Brown alone, for recovery.

III. Additional Sustaining Grounds for Summary Judgment

While granting summary judgment on the basis that Defendants did not owe a duty to

Plaintiffs to ensure Dr. Brown had medical malpractice coverage for their claims, the circuit court chose not to address Defendants' proximate cause and statute of limitations arguments in favor of summary judgment. (Order, p. 10, R. p. 16.) However, those arguments do set forth additional grounds for why the circuit court's order granting summary judgment should be sustained.

A. Plaintiffs' Injuries Were Not Proximately Caused by Defendants' Acts or Omissions

Plaintiffs' inability to collect their judgments has not been the result of any act or omission on the part of Laurens. Their current predicament can be blamed on several things, but none of those things are Laurens's fault. First, had Plaintiffs put Dr. Brown on notice of their claims at the time they first became aware of the injuries he allegedly caused them, there would have been coverage through Dr. Brown's JUA policy. It was not Laurens's fault that they each decided to wait so long to tell anyone that they felt they had been injured by Dr. Brown's negligence. Second, it was not Laurens's fault that Dr. Brown switched insurance carriers and failed to purchase tail coverage. And finally, it was not Laurens's fault that Dr. Brown decided to move out of the country.

In their Second Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs appear to argue that Laurens should have informed them that Dr. Brown had a claims-made policy in sufficient time for them to make a claim (Sec. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 66-68, R. pp. 149-50); however, their own "hospital expert" refuted that contention and stated that, in his opinion, Laurens had no duty to do anything until it found out that Dr. Brown had switched policies and failed to purchase tail coverage or prior bad acts coverage. (See Hyde Dep., R. p. 92.) But at that point, the damage had been done and there was nothing anyone - besides Dr. Brown - could do to rectify the situation.

Plaintiffs contend that Laurens should have done something to force Dr. Brown to purchase tail coverage, but Laurens could not force Dr. Brown to do anything. Dr. Brown was not an

employee of Laurens. Laurens had no direct control over him. The most Laurens could have done was terminate his privileges and require him to repay the amounts forwarded under the Subsidy Contract, but there is no evidence that doing either of those things would have prompted Dr. Brown to purchase tail coverage. In fact, Laurens ultimately did both of those things, and it did not have any impact on Dr. Brown's decision to not purchase tail coverage.

Plaintiffs' "hospital expert" conceded that Laurens could not have forced Dr. Brown to purchase tail coverage, but argued that Laurens had a duty to purchase tail coverage on Dr. Brown's behalf since he refused. However, Plaintiffs' insurance expert conceded that in order for a company to be able to purchase liability insurance coverage for a person, it must have an insurable interest in that person. (See Carson, Dep., R. pp. 94-95.) Therefore, for Laurens to have had an insurable interest in Dr. Brown, there had to be a possibility that Laurens could be held vicariously liable for Dr. Brown's actions, but as noted above, that was not a possibility under the Tort Claims Act. See Smith, supra. Accordingly, under the law, Laurens could not have purchased tail coverage on Dr. Brown's behalf even if it wanted to.

The fact is that once Dr. Brown made the decision to switch carriers and declined to purchase tail coverage or prior bad acts coverage, there was nothing anyone, other than Dr. Brown, could do to ensure that Plaintiffs would be compensated for the injuries he allegedly caused them. It was solely Dr. Brown's fault that Plaintiffs were injured and it was Dr. Brown's fault (notwithstanding Plaintiffs' failure to timely file their claims) that Plaintiffs have been unable to collect any money for their alleged injuries.

B. Plaintiffs' Claims are Barred by the Statute of Limitations

Under the Tort Claims Act, the applicable statute of limitations is two years. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110. South Carolina applies the discovery rule to claims for negligence. Republic Contr.

Corp. v. South Carolina Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp., 332 S.C. 197, 503 S.E.2d 761 (Ct. App. 1998). Under the discovery rule, the statutory period begins to run when a person knew or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known that he had a cause of action. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-535 (2008); Smith v. Smith, 291 S.C. 420, 426, 354 S.E.2d 36, 40 (1987). The test is objective and is based upon when a person could or should have known that a cause of action might exist in his or her favor, rather than when a person obtains actual knowledge of either the potential claim or of the facts giving rise thereto. Burgess v. American Cancer Soc., South Carolina Div., Inc., 300 S.C. 182, 386 S.E.2d 798 (Ct. App. 1989).; see also Austin v. Conway Hosp., Inc., 292 S.C. 334, 339, 356 S.E.2d 153, 156 (Ct. App. 1987) (quoting Rogers v. Efirid's Exterminating Co., Inc., 284 S.C. 377, 379, 325 S.E.2d 541, 542 (1985)). Further, the Supreme Court of South Carolina held in Wiggins v. Edwards, 314 S.C. 126, 128, 442 S.E.2d 169, 170 (1994):

"The focus is upon the date of discovery of the injury, not the date of discovery of the wrongdoer: The important date under the discovery rule is the date that a plaintiff discovers the injury, not the date of the discovery of the identity of another alleged wrongdoer. If, on the date of injury, a plaintiff knows or should know that she had some claim against someone else, the statute of limitations begins to run for all claims based on that injury." (emphasis added).

Applying the law to the facts of this case, it is clear that Plaintiff's claims are barred as matter of law. Plaintiffs are trying to recover damages sustained when they were allegedly injured by Dr. Brown; therefore, the statute of limitations for all claims based on those injuries began to run when those injuries occurred. Mrs. McCord felt she had been injured by Dr. Brown following her second surgery on February 19, 2009; therefore, all of her claims began to accrue on February 19, 2009. Mrs. Sherfield was told immediately following her surgery on May 29, 2009 that there had been complications; therefore, all of her claims began to accrue on May 29, 2009. Plaintiffs did not file this action until March of 2014, nearly three years beyond the statute of limitations.

Plaintiffs have argued that their claims against the hospital did not begin to accrue until they

discovered that Dr. Brown did not have medical malpractice insurance coverage for their claims against him (see Pl. Mem. in Opp. to Sum. J., R. p. 118-19), but that position is inconsistent with the damages Plaintiffs are seeking to recover. Plaintiffs have alleged that they are entitled to recover the full amount of the judgments they received against Dr. Brown.⁶ (See Sec. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 83-85, R. p. 154-55.) Those judgments were compensation for the injuries allegedly caused by Dr. Brown during the aforementioned surgeries. Therefore, in this case, Plaintiffs are again seeking to be compensated for the injuries they sustained during those surgeries, and, as previously stated, all claims to recover for those injuries began to accrue at the time of the injuries in 2009. Wiggins, supra.

Nevertheless, even assuming that Plaintiffs claims did not accrue until they knew about the problem with Dr. Brown's insurance, their claims against Defendants would still be barred by the applicable statute of limitations. It is admitted that as of December 1, 2011 Plaintiffs, through their attorney, were aware of the possibility that Dr. Brown did not have medical malpractice insurance coverage for their claims against him. (See Plaintiffs' Response to Defendants' Requests for Admission, ¶ 5, R. p. 89) Therefore, even assuming the lack of insurance caused a distinct and separate injury, which again would be inconsistent with Plaintiffs' claimed damages in this case, Plaintiffs were aware of that injury as of December 1, 2011, which means they were still several months beyond the applicable statute of limitations when they filed this action on March 26, 2014.

In an attempt to get around the statute of limitations, Plaintiffs have argued they did not

⁶ Plaintiffs have been inconsistent in how much they claim they are entitled to recover in this case. In their Second Amended Complaint they alleged they were entitled to recover the full amounts of the default judgments that they received in the actions against Dr. Brown (¶¶ 83-85). They have repeated that claim in their Initial Brief (p. 3); however, in their Memorandum in Support of their Rule 59(e) Motion, Plaintiffs acknowledged for the first and only time that the most they could recover would be the amount of insurance coverage that possibly would have been available to them had Dr. Brown purchased tail coverage or prior bad acts coverage. It is clear from Dr. Brown's policy that would have been at most \$1,000,000 per claim. (See JUA Policy, R. pp. 57-59.)

suffer a loss until judgments were rendered against Dr. Brown, which they argue would have been covered by insurance but for Laurens's failure to ensure Dr. Brown had insurance. (see Pl. Mem. in Opp. to Sum. J., R. pp. 119-20.) Again, that argument contradicts their damages claims, since they are claiming the full amount of the damages they received in the default judgments, as opposed to the amounts that would have been covered by insurance. This argument by Plaintiffs highlights many of the fallacies of this case. First, it proves that Plaintiffs are essentially contending that Laurens should indemnify Dr. Brown when there is no evidence that Laurens ever agreed to do so. Second, it emphasizes how speculative their claims are. Despite what Plaintiffs contend, even if Dr. Brown had purchased tail coverage or prior bad acts coverage, they would not have recovered the entirety of their judgments. Dr. Brown had a \$1M/\$3M policy, so Plaintiffs would have received at most \$1M each. And it is certainly a possibility that, given the fact that several other claims were made against Dr. Brown in 2009 (see App. Initial Brief, p. 5, fn 1), he may have already exceeded his \$3M annual aggregate, which would have precluded Plaintiffs from receiving any insurance proceeds. In addition, the testimony from Plaintiffs' insurance expert confirmed that Dr. Brown's move out of the country and subsequent refusal to participate in the defense of the case could have provided grounds for his carrier to deny coverage for the claims altogether. (see Carson Dep., R. pp. 132-33). Finally, if Plaintiffs' claims are truly dependent upon their inability to collect the judgments, then their claims still have not ripened, as they have at least five more years in which they could enforce the judgments against Dr. Brown. See S.C. Code § 15-35-810.

C. While Plaintiffs may be in an Unfortunate Situation, Their Grievances are Misdirected to the Courts

Much of Plaintiffs' Brief is dedicated to putting forward "facts" and policy arguments as to why physicians and/or hospitals should be required to carry medical malpractice insurance. (see e.g.,

Appellants' Initial Brief at 8-10.) However, under our State Constitution and the case law, these policy considerations are for the Legislature, not this Court. The question of whether a physician should be required to purchase malpractice insurance and, more particularly, whether a hospital has any duty to ensure that a physician with privileges at the hospital has purchased such insurance, should be left to the Legislature, which is empowered by our State Constitution to make all of the policy decisions surrounding this issue and is best positioned to create and fund a regulatory scheme on this question going forward.

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